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PREFACE


My sins go with me is a line from a poem by the writer Hendrik Marsman, who drowned while trying to escape from Nazi-occupied Holland to join the Dutch forces in England. It is poetry from an era of courage marred by baseness and betrayal, when the Netherlands produced men and women of the greatest heroism, and others willing to sell their neighbours for a few guilders. I heard it first in 2019, when the ship I was sailing on docked in Cape Town and I watched an elderly woman passenger descend to the quayside to be greeted with a kiss from an equally elderly man. When we resumed our journey, I asked her who he was. ‘A fighter-pilot,’ she said. ‘The last time we kissed was in Holland, seventy-five years ago…’
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Anna-Maria van der Vaart was ninety-nine, remarkably independent despite her failing eyesight, elegant, calm and self-possessed. As we sailed north from Cape Town, she told me about the downed Allied pilots she sheltered in the darkest days of the war; she described the persecuted Jews who found refuge in her home and how she stood up to the Nazis by participating in audacious acts of resistance. Like many English speakers, I had heard a lot about the French Resistance and about Soviet partisans, but my knowledge of what happened in the Netherlands extended little beyond the heartrending story of Anne Frank. When I asked Anna-Maria why that might be, she said, ‘You’ve just given the answer. The Dutch turned more Jews over to the Nazis than any other nation. There were traitors in every Resistance cell.’

The juxtaposition of valour and treachery struck me as poignant and tragic. When we docked in Southampton, I set out to uncover more. In interviews with those who survived, in Dutch and German archives, personal diaries, photo libraries and occasionally contentious memoirs by men with things to hide, I came across a drama on a scale I could never have imagined.

I have told Anna-Maria’s story in this book together with those of the Resistance members with whom she had contact or whose deeds she recollected, the people she helped to survive and others who were determined to destroy them, to give as wide as possible a picture – both of those who resisted and those who threw in their lot with their fellow Aryans from Hitler’s Germany. I have tried to understand the decisions taken by both sides and have learned that it was not a simple choice, not just a question of courage and honour versus cowardice and greed. In writing their stories, I have adhered to the facts where the facts are known; where they are not, I have filled in the gaps with a probable narrative of what happened in the shadows.

Martin Sixsmith, 2024






1 INVASION 1940



Rotterdam, 14 May 1940

The house shook and the bedroom filled with light. Anna-Maria ran to the window as incendiary bombs from successive waves of aeroplanes set ablaze the wooden roofs of the medieval city. Individual fires, manageable at first, spread and joined together until the firefighters could no longer cope. Columns of heat, roaring into the night, sucked up air from the surrounding streets, tossing roofbeams, bricks and bodies into the sky. Rotterdam burned for a week.
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In the afternoon, giant snowflakes appeared, swirling and growing until Anna-Maria could make out the silk of the parachutes and the grey-green uniforms of the men beneath them. She tried counting but couldn’t keep up. At 4 p.m., the Netherlands capitulated.
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Generaloberst Rudolf Schmidt, commander of the 9th Panzer Division who accepted the Dutch surrender, apologised for the carpet bombing. The intention had been to destroy only military targets, he said; an order to recall the bombers had arrived too late.

Hitler told his troops to treat the Dutch with courtesy, as potential allies in the war of races that lay ahead. The two countries had history and culture in common, similar languages and similar outlooks. In the First World War, Berlin had channelled its westward offensive through Belgium, allowing the Netherlands to stay neutral, preserving her colonies abroad and prosperity at home. When the Germans went to war again, the Dutch had hoped they would ‘go around us’ as they had in the past. The Nazi invasion was a surprise attack, with no formal declaration of war. Initial resistance by the Dutch army had provided Goering with a reason to deploy the Luftwaffe, a timely opportunity to showcase the prowess of his men and their machines.



Like most Dutch people, Anna-Maria didn’t hate the Germans. She had friends over the border; she spoke their language. She was twenty years old, a student at Leiden University, passionate about music, passionate about the theatre. Politics were for grown-ups.
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Anna- Maria aged twenty



The grown-ups were worried. In the days after 14 May the organist of St Boniface’s Church on Wijnstraat in Dordrecht, south of Rotterdam, climbed to the top of the wooden neoclassical bell tower to watch the smoke rising from the city. Adrianus Roest loved God and he loved music, but he was a good burgher who knew the value of money. He had spent his life building a prosperous grocery and coal delivery business. When the Germans seized the Sudetenland, then Austria and Poland, Adrianus had decided it was time to sell up. He told his wife Catharina that if the Nazis came to Holland, money in the bank would be easier to hide than grocery stores. But now the invaders were here and there were rumours that they were confiscating bank accounts.

It took their son to suggest a way out. Pim Roest was a year older than Anna-Maria and, like her, a student at Leiden. Pim was the captain of the university hockey team, outgoing, bright and popular. At night he played saxophone and trombone in the New Cormorants Jazz Band. It made him seem grown-up and suave. When Pim invited her out, Anna-Maria felt chosen.

‘What if we got married?’ Pim said to his parents. ‘You could use the money from the bank to buy us a house and some furniture. Surely the Germans won’t go around stealing people’s houses.’

The Roests agreed. They spoke to Anna-Maria’s parents who liked Pim and were keen on the idea.
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Pim Roest





By the time she turned twenty-one Anna-Maria was a married woman. In 1940, with the country under German occupation, the wedding could have been a subdued affair, but Pim was full of energy, full of fun, determined to make the best of things. The New Cormorants came to the reception in the townhall and Pim led them through a string of dance classics, delighting parents and children alike.
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Wedding day, 1940
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The New Cormorants, including Pim Roest (back row, centre)



For Pim and Anna-Maria, whose relationship had been limited to a few dances and hurried discussions in the cinema, married life was a chance to discover each other. Anna-Maria told him about her childhood, her family and the experiences that had made her who she was.

‘I’d like a nice three-storey, brick house,’ she said, ‘to remind me of growing up in my parents’ home in Oude Delft. One with a pavement just six paces wide between the front door and the canal. One where our children can put on their skates and step out onto the ice.’

She spoke about the winter thrill of skating to school, speeding down the frozen canal, arriving in class with glowing cheeks.

‘And at weekends, we played ice hockey. My father was the referee and when we came back, my mother would make us hot chocolate. Then we moved to Dordrecht. I was good at maths and science and that’s how I ended up studying medicine at Leiden.’
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Oude Delft





They found a pretty redbrick in Terbregge, a village outside Rotterdam, with a garden and land. Because the family who owned it were hoping to emigrate, it was going cheap.

When Pim asked the land agent why the price was so low, the man raised his finger to his nose. ‘Jews,’ he said. ‘They were keen to come here in the past, but not so eager to stay now that our friends from Berlin are sorting out the Rothschilds and all the other bloodsuckers.’

When it came to negotiating, Pim asked what a fair price for the house would have been before the invasion and told the owners that he would pay as close to it as he possibly could.



At first, little changed. Her country was occupied, she was married, but life carried on. Anna-Maria was young; she didn’t want tragedy or drama. She pursued her medical studies, acted in university productions, sang and danced. When the troupe she belonged to enjoyed some success in Leiden, they took the show on the road, touring in Amsterdam, Rotterdam and The Hague.

The Germans, for their part, seemed happy to allow the Dutch as much normality as it took to persuade them to throw in their lot with the new regime. Their first official proclamation, carried in newspapers and on noticeboards in public places, stressed the two nations’ common history and common blood.


Dutch soldiers have fought well in battle and the Dutch population has adopted a satisfactory attitude towards our troops. There is nothing to prevent us meeting each other on a plane of mutual respect. The German people are fighting a battle for survival, a struggle which the hatred and envy of our enemies have forced upon us. Our intention is that the Dutch nation, akin in blood to the German nation, shall not be subject to living conditions less favourable than those necessitated by the commonality of our fate… Dutch society will, as far as possible, be left unimpaired; Dutch law will continue in force; the existing civil service will continue in post and the independence of the judiciary will be preserved. All officials and public employees will, however, be expected conscientiously to comply with the orders they are given and the Dutch population to obey these orders with discipline and goodwill… If the Netherlands nation fulfils the duties resulting from this common task, it will be able to secure its liberty for the future.

Headquarters of the Führer, 25 May 1940
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German troops welcomed in Amsterdam





Even before the invasion, some sectors of Dutch society liked the idea of Nazism. Economic decline and fears of fictional threats – Bolsheviks, Jews, Masonic conspirators – had emboldened Holland’s own Nazi party, the National Socialist Movement, Nationaal-Socialistische Beweging (NSB). Under the leadership of Anton Mussert, a chubby opportunist who advocated the annexation of the Dutch-speaking part of Belgium, the NSB aped its big brother in Berlin, promising to rescue the Netherlands from the bondage of foreign capital and restore the dignity of its people.
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The Party held rallies and torchlit parades, and demanded the expulsion of immigrants and the Aryanisation of the fatherland. When NSB candidates were elected to the Dutch parliament in the mid-1930s, they flouted parliamentary rules, made anti-Semitic speeches and brought physical violence to the debating chamber.

Left-wing intellectuals mocked Mussert and derided his little-man megalomania. But in May 1940, he reaped his reward. The Germans banned all other political parties, anointing the NSB as the only tolerated voice of native opinion. Mussert went to Berlin to meet Hitler and discuss the future. He asked if he could be named Prime Minister, but Hitler demurred. The ruler of Holland had to be a German or an Austrian, the Führer said; he would shortly be installing a new Reichskommissar. But if the NSB pledged its unwavering support for Nazi rule, Mussert could be in charge of imposing Berlin’s diktat, with the honorific title ‘Leader of the Dutch People’.



Anna-Maria heard the whispered debates about how people should respond to the occupiers, about the contested legitimacy of the NSB and the fears that resistance to Mussert’s petty demagogues might provoke the Nazis to harsher measures. She spoke good German and she admired German culture. Goethe had been the literary companion of her teenage years; she loved the old Berlin cabaret numbers that she danced to in her stage performances. She resented the thought that her country was no longer her own, but like most people in those early months she just got on with things.

When her troupe went on tour, they drew big audiences, including German civilians and Germans in uniform. Anna-Maria was twenty-one, slim and attractive; she could see the admiring looks from the men in the front row. When an envelope was delivered to her dressing room, she half-knew what to expect. ‘You are so lovely,’ the note began in copperplate German. ‘You are so ravishing when you sing. You remind me of the girls of my homeland. Please would you do me the honour of taking dinner?’

The other girls laughed. Anna-Maria threw the note in the bin.



At the end of Sunday mass, as the priest and choir processed down the nave, Pim’s father Adrianus Roest modulated unexpectedly from the comforting B-flat of Bach’s ‘Sheep May Safely Graze’ to the brassy G major of ‘Het Wilhelmus’, the national anthem of the Netherlands. With the instinctive response that anthems command, some of the congregation began to sing, ‘I swear undying faith to this land of mine,’ then, joined by others,


Undaunted, ever-free, let no despair betray you;

The Lord shall surely guard you, though now you are oppressed.

He who keeps the faith, who gives his life, his all,

Shall see this land restored!



The priest asked Adrianus to join him in the vestry.

‘Yes,’ he said. ‘Inspiring. A moment of release. But the organ you play is a hundred years old, my son. It is the voice not just of the man who plays it; it is the voice of the Church and the voice of God. We need to think of the consequences before we take such responsibility upon ourselves.’
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Adrianus Roest





Nineteen-forty was Anton Mussert’s year of miracles. Invested by the Führer with authority in a nation where many had mocked him, he demanded submission and obedience. The NSB was empowered to vet civil servants for loyalty to the country’s new rulers. Those deemed suspect were fired, with no right of appeal and no pension. Mussert’s men evicted councillors and mayors in all the major cities, making new appointments from their own ranks.
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Anton Mussert receives instructions from Hitler in Berlin



In June, Berlin gave instructions to begin the reorganisation of the Dutch police and military. Hitler wanted to retain Dutch goodwill, so Mussert was told to interview and re-engage all those who were willing to serve the new order. Thousands of soldiers captured by the Germans were asked to sign an undertaking not to engage in activities hostile to the Reich and, having done so, were released. The Opbouwdienst, the Reconstruction Service, distributed new uniforms, new conditions of employment and a new oath of loyalty. Ninety per cent of serving police officers accepted.



Adrianus and Catharina Roest were frequent visitors to Pim and Anna-Maria’s new home. When Catharina, a good Dutch mother-in-law, asked indiscreet questions about their intentions and when she and Adrianus might become grandparents, Anna-Maria smiled.

‘I’ve got two years of medical school left,’ she said. ‘And I’m acting in my spare time. I’d hardly look right in a cabaret skirt with a swollen belly.’



Dutch society continued to function. Businesses and schools, cinemas and theatres, post offices and public transport remained open. The bulk of the German army had moved on to France, leaving the Netherlands in the hands of a sitting garrison and the forces of the NSB. Newly introduced blackout regulations were one of the few reminders of the war.
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Queen Wilhelmina



The Dutch royal family, exiled in London and broadcasting calls for resistance over the BBC, was a rallying point. Orange, the royal colour, became a mark of civil disobedience. On Prince Bernhard’s twenty-ninth birthday in June, people wore carnations in their lapels and flew the Dutch flag. The Germans responded by removing royal portraits from public buildings and changing street names.
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Carnation Day in The Hague, 1940



A family that christened its new baby after the royals and put a birth announcement in the newspapers listing her names – Irene Beatrix Juliana Wilhelmina – received messages of congratulation from all over the country. The Germans sent the mother to the Ravensbrück concentration camp.



Adrianus had a visit from an old schoolfriend. He and Ruud Wilders had been close as teenagers, but Wilders had made a career in law enforcement, Adrianus in groceries and the Church.

‘Adrianus,’ Wilders said, ‘I’m a good detective and that’s why I’ve reached the top – commanding officer for north Amsterdam. Signing up for the Opbouwdienst will mean working with the Gestapo. But I don’t see that there’s a better alternative.’

‘The problem is that the NSB have adopted the Nazi creed of hatred,’ Adrianus said. ‘They claim they want Holland to be pure and proud. But what they mean is, “Let’s destroy the Jews and the foreigners and anyone who doesn’t think the way we do.” That’s not compatible with the beliefs of a Christian – or any honest man.’

‘The country you and I loved as children has changed,’ Wilders said. ‘Don’t you remember how everyone used to pull together? That’s all gone. We may not like it that the Nazis are here, but we’re going to have to deal with it.’

‘But we have to deal with it in a way that leaves our conscience free,’ Adrianus said, ‘that lets us sleep at night.’

‘We can stand against the Germans and try to drive them out,’ Wilders said. ‘But look how they crushed us when we fought. Or we can work with them to get the best deal for Holland. We don’t have to sign up to all their excesses: we can co-operate just enough to have some influence over them, to have some say in what happens to our country. You only have to look at what the Germans have done to the Poles who stood against them, to the communists, the Jews, the partisans. We mustn’t let that happen here. And we have one big advantage – the Germans came to Poland with hatred in their hearts, but they’ve come here with open minds. We have a choice, Adrianus – we can turn Holland into a new Poland or we can work to protect the majority of our people and the fabric of our society.’

‘I’m sorry, Ruud,’ Adrianus said. ‘If we believe in the teachings of Christ, we can never support a regime like this. It’s a Christian’s duty to avoid bringing suffering on his fellow man…’

‘Yes, yes,’ Wilders said. ‘I agree. But the vast majority say the same as I do: that we carry on doing the job we’ve always done, keeping law and order, preventing crime, making the country safe so the government can do the best for the people. I’m going to the Opbouwdienst with my men and we’re going to sign up.’
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Pim brought home a brochure that had been distributed to students at the university. It was full of photographs of young men and women engaging in outdoor sports.
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‘Swift is the tread of our feet; grand is our dream of the future,’ Anna-Maria read aloud, leafing through the pages. ‘ “Drums beat loud throughout the land; come, march with us!” It all sounds very uplifting. Are you thinking of going along?’

‘Don’t be naïve,’ Pim said. ‘The NSB want to turn us into Nazis and tell us how to think. They want to make Holland a province of Greater Germany. And there are so many people falling for it.’
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‘Oh, I don’t know,’ Anna-Maria said. ‘There are some nice photos of girls in uniform here. Don’t you think I’d look good in one of those short skirts and tight blouses?’

Pim saw she was laughing.



The first months of occupation had been quiet, with a widespread acceptance of, even enthusiasm for, the German presence. If resentment showed itself, it did so in symbolic acts such as flying the Dutch flag and humming the national anthem. When cinemas replaced American films with German newsreels, some audience members booed or walked out.

By and large, the authorities turned a blind eye. When a group of students were caught with a pamphlet claiming that the Germans were planning to force Dutch people to work for the Third Reich, they were arrested and charged, but the regime decided against punishing them.

By the end of the summer, tea and coffee, then bread and flour could no longer be purchased without ration cards; meat rationing was introduced and petrol stations closed. A National Employment Bureau – the Rijksarbeidsbureau – was opened to ensure the provision of labour for industries prioritised by the Reich, and compulsory identity cards were introduced. Censorship was tightened. All but a handful of official newspapers were closed and a ban imposed on listening to the broadcasts of the BBC. When people continued to listen, the Germans confiscated their radios.

Underground publications began to appear in greater numbers. When their distributors were caught, they were no longer released but sent to a newly constructed holding camp at Amersfoort in the central Netherlands.
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Suspects awaiting trial in Durchgangslager Amersfoort



In October, Jewish-owned businesses were ordered to register with the authorities. Two hundred thousand public employees were told to complete a questionnaire about their family history and sign a so-called Aryan declaration, swearing that they did not have Jewish ancestry. Only a handful refused to comply. Restaurants and cafés were encouraged to display ‘Joden niet gewenscht’ placards, barring Jews from entering.
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2 RESISTANCE BEGINS


For Anna-Maria, the turning point came with the boy next door. She didn’t know his name, but in the months since she and Pim had moved to their new house she had seen him playing outside. He looked fifteen or sixteen, well dressed and nimble on his feet. In the evening, she watched him ride off on his bike and return after dark with parcels tied to the crossbar.

She spotted the danger before he did. Bent down fixing his bicycle clips, the boy had failed to see the soldier in the doorway, failed to hear the click of the rifle bolt.

‘You! Off that bike!’

The soldier was pointing his weapon, signalling the boy to come to him. The child hesitated and made as if to obey, but Anna-Maria sensed what was about to happen. She ran out as the boy jumped onto his bike and the soldier’s trigger finger tightened.

‘Stop! Sir! Please stop!’

She was in the soldier’s eyeline, close enough to see his moment of hesitation as she threw herself in front of him. Two shots exploded past her ear. As she raised her hands, she glimpsed the boy disappearing into a side street and the soldier’s drunken eyes as he swung his rifle into her face.



On 23 November, the chancellors of Holland’s universities received instructions that Jewish employees – from professors to clerks to cleaners – were to be fired with immediate effect.

It was not unexpected. But students at Delft College and Leiden University were angered by the injustice of it and announced they were going on strike.
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Student strike committee meeting, Leiden University, 23 November 1940



Pim and Anna-Maria supported the demands that were presented to the Education Ministry, including the reinstatement of all lecturers and employees, a pledge from the authorities to renounce religious prejudice in public policy and guarantees of political independence for institutions of higher education.

Two days later, detachments of armed police arrived. The striking students were evicted and the universities closed.



Anna-Maria’s nightmares began the moment she fell asleep at night. She would be back outside the house, running towards the man with the rifle, trying to intercept the flying bullets with her outstretched hands, feeling the stab of pain as they passed through her palms, the shots detonating in her ears and the terror that woke her screaming and covered in sweat.



‘We can’t not do it,’ Pim said. ‘We wouldn’t be able to look each other in the eye if we refused.’

Anna-Maria agreed. ‘It’s time to stand up for something. To do something, after all these months.’
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The men with the bundles had come to Leiden as soon as the strike was crushed, looking for volunteers among the students. The newspapers – flimsy cyclostyled sheets, half-typed, half- handwritten – were taken up at once. The founding edition of De Waarheid – The Truth – bore the same date as the university strikes; its bold sub-heading proclaimed it would lead the Netherlands on ‘The Road to Freedom’.

Distributing De Waarheid was not without danger. There were no signatures on the articles, but the newspaper’s title proclaimed its loyalty to the Soviet Union’s Pravda (meaning ‘truth’ in Russian). Communism had been as contested in pre-war Holland as National Socialism, but the Nazis were here now and the communists were calling for resistance. Political dislikes were put on hold in the common cause.

Pim took care of the collections, going alone to pick up the fortnightly consignments and dividing them into parcels to be taken to the locations on their list. The regime had announced that possessing subversive literature would be considered a capital offence, so the fewer people who knew you, the safer for everyone.

‘There’s no point in you knowing where I go,’ he told Anna-Maria. ‘The Germans will have their spies inside the network.’



Berlin had given Mussert and the NSB the chance to deliver a subservient Holland and they had failed to do so. From now on, the Reich would take care of its own interests.

Hitler had named an Austrian Nazi as his plenipotentiary in the Netherlands, Reichskommissar Arthur Seyss-Inquart. As the acting Chancellor of Austria in March 1938, Seyss-Inquart had been the man who invited Hitler to invade his homeland, overseeing the plebiscite that served as justification for the Anschluss and the incorporation of Austria as a province of Germany, and implementing the Führer’s policies on the Jewish question. Assigned next to the Nazi administration of Poland, Seyss-Inquart had presided over the confiscation of Jewish property and the deportation of its owners to the camps. His mission now was to do the same in Holland.
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Arthur Seyss- Inquart



Seyss-Inquart’s first move was to locate and identify the country’s Jews. His Decree on Jewish Registration was thorough to the point of obsession.


DECREE BY THE REICHSKOMMISSAR FOR THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES OF THE NETHERLANDS.

By virtue of article 5 of the Führer’s proclamation of 18 May 1940 relative to the exercise of governmental powers in the Netherlands, I hereby decree as follows.

Persons who are entirely or partly of Jewish race and who are residing in the occupied territories of the Netherlands are to be registered in accordance with the following regulations:

A person is considered to be entirely or partly of Jewish race if he is descended from even one grandparent of full Jewish blood. A grandparent is automatically considered as being of full Jewish blood if he belongs or has belonged to the Jewish religious community.

If there should be any doubt as to whether a person should be considered to be of Jewish blood as stated above, the decision will be made by the Reichskommissar for the occupied territories of the Netherlands or the office indicated by him. This decision is final.

Registration must indicate:


	First and last name of the person to be registered

	Place, date, month and year of birth

	Home or residence, indicating exact name of street and number of house.



The State Inspectorate of Population Registers [Het Hoofd der Rijksinspectie van de Bevolkingsregisters] is responsible for making all registrations and shall keep the residence records of the concerned persons in the register in its offices.

Any person who is due to register and does not fulfil his obligation to register will be sentenced to a term of imprisonment of up to 5 years.

Issued: The Hague, 10 January 1941

Reichskommissar for the occupied territories in the Netherlands, Seyss-Inquart.
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Arthur Seyss- Inquart, January 1941





Pim and Anna-Maria shared the deliveries of De Waarheid between them. For the most part, they kept to their own handover points. It meant fewer names at risk if either were caught. There were more uniforms on the streets and policing was becoming aggressive. Duties that had been carried out by Mussert’s NSB now fell to the Wehrmacht and the SS. Stop-and-search squads patrolled the cities.

In early February 1941, Pim had a message from their contact at De Waarheid. A wave of late-season bronchitis had left the network short of couriers; would he or Anna-Maria be willing to make an extra delivery in Amsterdam?

Pim said he would do it. He was told to be at the south-eastern corner of Waterlooplein, a square in central Amsterdam, at 7 p.m. on Thursday the 13th. He would recognise the girl to whom he was to make the handover by the folded copy of Volk en Vaderland, the Dutch fascist newspaper, that she would be carrying under her left arm.

Pim got there early and found the square crowded with people. Waterlooplein was not one of his usual haunts, but it seemed to him that there was an uncommon bustle; people appeared on edge, as if waiting for something to happen.

He spotted her just before seven, a young woman with dark hair in a blue overcoat carrying the folded newspaper. She had evidently been given his description because she nodded and signalled to him to walk towards the canal. As they were passing the Rembrandt House, approaching the water’s edge, the woman dropped her newspaper and began to run.

Pim saw the black-uniformed WA men running towards him. He fled along the Zwanenburgwal, with the canal on his left. Emerging onto Jodenbreestraat, he found himself outside the Tip Top Cinema and pushed his way through a crowd of bodies into the foyer.
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‘A ticket. A ticket, please,’ he heard himself say in a voice that was too loud. He looked around and saw that the foyer was full of German soldiers. The clerk said something. Pim didn’t understand.

‘I said, “Do you have a Wehrmacht pass?” ’

The man was speaking slowly, as if to a foreigner.

‘It’s Thursday’ the clerk said. ‘Wehrmacht only today.’

With counterfeit composure, Pim adjusted his tie and walked out. The street was filled with noise; people were running, some of them with bloodied faces. Pim slipped into the crowd and made his way to the station.



The WA, The Weer Afdeling, were Holland’s blackshirts, uniformed thugs dedicated to targeting Jews and foreigners; they made their own rules, only partially controlled by Mussert’s NSB. In early February, WA men had marched through Amsterdam’s Jewish quarter, assaulting the inhabitants, forcing restaurants and cafés to put up Joden niet gewenscht signs, daubing slogans on synagogues.
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WA men march through Amsterdam



On Tuesday 11 February, two days before Pim’s mission to Amsterdam, WA members had smashed doors and windows at the Alcazar Cabaret, where Jewish singers were performing. They had entered the auditorium and driven spectators into the street to run the gauntlet of sticks and clubs. Passing German soldiers had joined in the fun, helping the WA men to break into Jewish homes in the neighbouring Jodenhoek district, terrorising the occupants and stealing their possessions.
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WA men and German soldiers terrorise Jewish neighbourhoods



In response, young Jewish men had formed self-defence squads with the assistance of communist-organised workers from the industrial suburbs of Kattenburg and Jordaan. It was they who were waiting in the Waterlooplein when Pim arrived there on the evening of the 13th and they who were the target of the WA units Pim had run into on the Zwanenburgwal. The fighting that began while Pim was in the Tip Top Cinema had intensified during the evening, with injuries on both sides.
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Clashes in central Amsterdam



When German troops cleared the area, they discovered the body of a WA man, Hendrik Koot. Koot had been felled by a brick thrown from the crowd, but the official media reported his death in more lurid terms. ‘Jewish Atrocity’ headlined Volk en Vaderland. ‘A brutal murder by cowardly terrorist Jews… the victim of countless wounds and beatings.’ A Jew had been spotted, claimed the WA, kneeling over the body with blood dripping from his lips, having bitten through Koot’s ears and nose and throat.
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For two days after he returned from Waterlooplein, Pim barely spoke. On the third day, he went out, returning in the evening with a parcel wrapped in brown paper.

‘I was scared,’ he said to Anna-Maria. ‘Not scared to die, but scared that I would die without you. And scared that you would have nothing to remember me by. I thought of the danger we are running and, even worse, that it might be you who died and I who would be left with no token of our love. I got these – one for you and one for me.’
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He handed her a necklace with a silver guilder bearing the head of Queen Wilhelmina, the symbol of resistance declared illegal by the Germans.

‘The next time something like Waterlooplein happens,’ Pim said, ‘we will have these round our necks. They will give us something to believe in, something to remind us of each other in that most terrible of moments. And, I hope, the courage to be brave when that moment comes.’






3 THE GHETTO


The death of Hendrik Koot gave Reichskommissar Seyss-Inquart the pretext he had been waiting for. On 12 February, he sent police and troops to cordon off the Jewish quarter of Amsterdam. Signs were erected announcing that this would henceforth be the Judenviertel, the Joodse Wijk, the Amsterdam ghetto. From Herengracht to Rapenburg and Kloveniersburgwal barbed wire and makeshift fences appeared, delineating the closed zone in which the dangerous Jewish terrorists would now be confined.

One week later, a clash between WA men and members of a Jewish defence unit at an ice-cream parlour in south Amsterdam ended with injuries and arrests. One of those arrested, Ernst Cahn, was tortured and shot by the WA. He was only the first.
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Jewish ghetto, Amsterdam





Opposition to the occupation was centred on the underground newspapers, each with its own politics. The shared dangers of producing and distributing them forged bonds between the men and women who did so, an intimacy of risk that led to the formation of distinct Resistance groupings.

De Waarheid carried the message of Soviet socialism, but not all who worked for it were communists. Pim and Anna-Maria did it for the sake of their homeland, not the cause of Moscow. A collective horror at the treatment of Holland’s Jews helped promote co-operation.

When a suggestion came from their handler at De Waarheid that Anna-Maria’s theatrical touring could be a cover for taking the newspaper to towns not yet served by the network, she agreed. Her medical studies had been suspended following the Leiden student strikes and she was acting full-time. Now when she travelled to venues where her troupe was to perform, she took De Waarheid with her.
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Anna- Maria in The Perfect Murder



There had been no lessening in the number of amorous German officers in her audiences, she told Pim, and no let-up in her determination to repulse them. Pim laughed.

‘If only they knew what you were really up to!’

‘They seem not to have the slightest suspicion,’ Anna-Maria said. ‘It’s as if the Reich has drummed into them what the enemy looks like – male and dark, with a big Jewish nose or a hammer and sickle tattooed on his buttocks. The thought that a blonde, blue-eyed, nice young lady could be a terrorist never enters their heads!’



Seyss-Inquart got word from Berlin. The Führer was concerned about the rise of Jewish provocations in the Netherlands; a firm hand was needed to deal with them. Heinrich Himmler, the head of the SS, wanted his representative, Höherer SS-Polizeiführer Hanns Albin Rauter, to be accorded full authority to crush the revolt.
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Hanns Rauter



Hanns Rauter had risen through the SS’s intelligence arm, the Sicherheitsdienst (SD), to become, at the age of forty-five, one of the youngest officers at his elevated rank. Wounds received in the First World War had left him with a damaged shoulder and a burning hatred for the enemies of the fatherland. His nickname, Vulture of the Alps, reflected both his lanky frame – six feet four inches – and his service between the wars in the right-wing anti-Semitic Freikorps, where his motto had been Gladius Ulter Noster, ‘The Sword is our Vengeance’. Himmler regarded him as capable and ruthless.

After duty in Poland, Rauter had come to the Netherlands as ‘Himmler’s man’. He was the SS chief’s eyes and ears, instructed to keep tabs on the enemy, but also on Seyss-Inquart. The potential for friction between them was present from the outset. On Himmler’s order, Rauter had been given authority over all branches of the German and Dutch police, with the power to issue his own decrees.

At their meeting to formalise his new responsibility for the Jewish question, Rauter let Seyss-Inquart take the lead. ‘The Jews for us are not Dutchmen,’ Seyss-Inquart said. ‘They are enemies with whom we can come neither to armistice nor to peace. The same goes for anyone who supports them or who supports the so-called Resistance.’

That evening Rauter wrote to Himmler, assuring him that the unrest in Amsterdam would henceforth be met with a ‘commensurate’ response.
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Arthur Seyss-Inquart (left, back to camera) and Hanns Rauter (furthest right)





The 10 January decree on compulsory registration had sowed fear in the country’s Jewish community. People had heard what the Nazis were doing in Poland and the demand for Jews in the Netherlands to identify themselves seemed a harbinger of similar horrors.

Polizeiführer Rauter ordered the Jewish ‘terrorists’ who had brought death and destruction to the streets to surrender their weapons. But he let it be known that he wanted a negotiated solution. He was appointing a prominent Jewish businessman, the diamond dealer Abraham Asscher, and a university professor, David Cohen, to form a Jewish Council – the Joodse Raad – to serve as the community’s voice in relations with the occupying powers.
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Abraham Asscher
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David Cohen



Asscher and his fellow members of the Jewish Council had spent the 1930s caring for Jewish refugees fleeing Nazi Germany for what then had seemed the safety of the Netherlands. They had few delusions about Rauter’s intentions, and misgivings about negotiating with him, but doing so seemed the only chance of mitigating the suffering ahead.
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Marlies Friedheim, aged twenty



Marlies Friedheim felt sorry for the WA man Hendrik Koot and the terrible way in which had he lost his life; what must the poor man’s wife and daughters be going through? And now all the worry about what might happen next… Already there was fighting on the streets and the Germans were threatening to crack down.

Marlies was twenty, a student at Amsterdam’s New School of Art, the Nieuwe Kunstschool on Reguliersdwarsstraat. Ceramic design and pottery were her refuge from the world. The art school’s founder, Paul Citroen, was a reassuring presence. Citroen was twice her age, but he treated her as an equal and a friend, recognised her talent and her intelligence.

‘The Germans need the Dutch to be on their side,’ Citroen said. ‘The last thing they want is to turn the country against them. They aren’t going to go round murdering people.’
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German troops round up Jewish men, Amsterdam, 1941



Hanns Rauter signed the order. ‘Four hundred Jews is the minimum,’ he said to his aide-de-camp. ‘Any resistance and we shoot them.’

On 22 February 1941, German troops entered the Jewish quarter of Amsterdam. Armed detachments of the Ordnungspolizei converged on the Jonas Daniël Meijerplein, driving before them the men they met on the street, cornering them in the square against the canal, kicking and beating them until order was restored.

Hanns Rauter read their report with satisfaction: 389 Jews had been taken alive and were now in custody, awaiting transport to the internment camp at Schoorl, thirty miles north of Amsterdam. From there, it would take a week to transport them to Konzentrationslager Buchenwald. Conditions on the transport and treatment at the camp, the report confirmed, would be rigorous.



Marlies Friedheim was one of 25,000 German Jews who had moved to the Netherlands. She had grown up in Essen where her parents had put her and her brother, Hans, into a Lutheran school, hoping to shield them from Nazi persecution. But by 1935, when Marlies was fifteen, it was clear that flight was the only option. Now, the nightmares were starting again.

‘I know I’ve been naïve,’ she told Paul Citroen. ‘I always want to believe the best about the world. But, Paul, does it mean they are coming for us?’

Citroen was also Jewish. He had moved from Berlin to Amsterdam a decade before Marlies, gaining an international reputation as a painter and photographer.

‘We have to take the world as we find it,’ he said. ‘But we must be positive. It is a gift from God.’

Citroen had a way of lifting her spirits. There was an aura of assurance about him that promised protection.

‘All my optimism – or stupidity, call it what you will – comes from my parents,’ she said. ‘When we lived in Germany, they used to say, “Hitler won’t last. We’ll just be patient and keep our heads down.” I told you how they sent me to a Christian school; and for a while it worked. But the Nazis stirred things up. The last Christmas before we emigrated, when I was fourteen and my brother Hans was sixteen, we went out to see all the St Nicholases and Devil Krampuses going round the houses where there were children. We did it every year and we loved it. We celebrated Christmas because my mother didn’t want us to feel different. But that year when we were out, a gang of boys appeared and we heard them saying, “Come on, let’s beat up the Jews!” Five of them attacked my brother. I tried to separate them, but I couldn’t do it, so they punched him and kicked him. When we got home, his mouth and his nose were bleeding. My mother wanted to ring the police, but my father said it’s no use – we have no rights any more. That’s when my mother decided we couldn’t stay in Germany.’

Marlies paused.

‘After the incident with my brother, we had a phone call from the mother of one of the boys. She said how sorry they were and that they hadn’t brought up their children to be like that; that they always respected us living there and they had punished their boys. She even came to the door to apologise. The older generation weren’t as anti-Semitic as the young ones, who were told right from the beginning in school how bad the Jews are.’

‘And that’s when your parents decided to come to Holland?’

‘Yes. My father had transferred some money here and he had a business in Amsterdam making eiderdowns and bedspreads. When we came, in 1935, we had a house in the country. My mother planted vegetables to feed us. At the beginning, we could still write to our friends in Germany, but we can’t any more because the authorities open all the letters…’



Three days later, Hanns Rauter discovered the law of unintended consequences. He had ordered his men to carry out the Amsterdam pogrom in daylight and in public, because he wanted to make an example of the Jewish terrorists who had dared to challenge the Reich. The operation had succeeded in terrifying Holland’s Jews, but it also roused the rest of the country.

On the morning of 25 February, Pim and Anna-Maria were woken by a knock on their door and the familiar whistled signal that material for distribution was being left in the porch.

When they opened the bundles, they found pamphlets written by the outlawed Dutch Communist Party and printed by De Waarheid, calling for a national strike.
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Protest against the persecution of the Jews!!! Strikes in all enterprises!!! Unanimous struggle against this terror!!! Show your solidarity with the abused Jewish workers!!! Protect Jewish children from Nazi violence!!! Shelter them in your homes!!!

STRIKE!!! STRIKE!!! STRIKE!!!



By late afternoon, strikes had broken out in Amsterdam, in Utrecht, Haarlem, Hilversum and Zaandam. The Rotterdam docks were at a standstill; trams and trains stopped running. Workers on bicycles halted traffic and called at people’s houses, urging them to join the protest. Thousands gathered in Amsterdam’s Northern Market then marched in procession to Dam Square.

Taken by surprise, Rauter phoned Seyss-Inquart to report on the uprising but received scant sympathy. The Polizeiführer had caused the problem, Seyss-Inquart said; the Polizeiführer should fix it.

It was not until the following day, 26 February, that Rauter had forces in place, and early evening before the order was given to engage. Repeated charges with truncheons and bayonets dispersed the protestors. The Ordnungspolizei arrested 200 people and took them to the Lloyd Hotel where they were beaten. Strikes continued, but the Germans were ready now. As soon as a demonstration broke out, troops were on the spot, firing at protestors, throwing hand grenades, dragging people out of the crowd.
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Rauter wanted retribution. Eighteen strikers were charged with sedition and sentenced to death. A firing squad was convened for dawn on 13 March in the dunes of Waalsdorpervlakte on the coast near The Hague. On the eve of their execution, the poet Jan Campert wrote the stanzas of his poem ‘De Achttien Doden’ – ‘The Eighteen Dead’ – on the wall of his prison cell.


A cell is just two metres long,

A scant two metres wide;

But smaller still is the plot of earth

Where we shall now reside.

The place unknown, the nameless way

Eighteen of us must tread;

None of us shall see the day,

None share the morning bread.

Oh radiant coast of Holland,

Light of my native land,

Now blighted by the curse of war,

Besmirched by devils’ hands.

What can the man of honour do

In that dark silent night,

But kiss his wife and kiss his child

And fight the lonely fight.

I knew the hardships, knew the worst,

When the fight we first began.

My heart, don’t fail me at the last;

Let me live and die a man!

And you who read these lines,

Think on my comrades here,

As we have thought on life and love

And on this land so dear.

But now the dawning comes on bright

Through the window barred on high;

Oh God, I beg you: Make it light,

That moment when we die…
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Coffins of the executed hostages on the dunes of Waalsdorpervlakte





The families of the 389 Jewish men transported to Buchenwald sought news of their fate. Some of the prisoners were reported to have died in transit, others on arrival at the camp. Those who survived had been transferred to work in the quarries at Konzentrationslager Mauthausen, where further deaths had occurred, reportedly from work-related accidents and suicide.
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Jewish men transported from Amsterdam on arrival in Buchenwald, 28 February 1941



Abraham Asscher, chairman of the Amsterdam Jewish Council, was ordered to deal with the men’s relatives whose grief was turning to anger. Asscher was a diamond trader, not a politician; his deputy at the Council, Dr David Cohen, was a professor of ancient Greek. Their pre-war record of aiding Jewish refugees gave them credibility in the Jewish community, but questions were being asked about their new role as mediators for the Germans. The Jewish Council had advised people not to support the February strike, arguing that doing so would provoke reprisals. Asscher and Cohen hoped the work of the Council might offer a means to influence the occupying power; for Hanns Rauter, it was a tool to facilitate the coming holocaust.






4 THE DILEMMA OF RESISTANCE


The organ loft at St Boniface’s had a mirror that allowed the organist to follow the choirmaster without turning his head. In his afternoons of solitary practice, Adrianus Roest used it to keep an eye on the west door; the church was never locked and not everyone respected its sanctity.

The man in the dark raincoat praying in the rear pews had his face in shadow, but Adrianus recognised him. He clicked the switch to turn off the bellows, closed the console door and descended the stairs to the nave.
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ORGANISEERT IN ALLE BEDRIJVEN DE PROTEST-STAKING !!!
VECHT EENSGEZIND TEGEN DEZE TERREUR !!!
EIST DE ONMIDDELLIJKE VRIJIATING VAN DE GEARRESTEERDE JODEN !!!
ELST DE ONTBINDING VAN DE W.A-TERREURGROEPEN !!!
ORGANISEERT IN DE BEDRIJVEN &N 1N DB WIJKEW DE ZELFVERDEDIGING !!!
WEEST SOLIDAIR MET HET ZWAAR GETROFFEN JOODSE DEEL VAN HET
WERKENDE VOLK !!!
ONTTREKT DE JOODSE KINDEREN AAN HET NAZI-GEWELD, NEEMT ZE IN
TW GEZINNEN OP !!!!
BESEFT DE ENORME KR ARGEHAT VAN
T W EENSGEZINDE DAAD !
Deze is vele malen groter dan de Duitse militaire bezetting!

G1Jj hebt in Uw verzet ongetwijifeld een groot deel van de Duitse
arbeiders—soldaten met U 111t

STAAKE!N SPAAKEULS TAAKTTLL

Légt Ral gelisle Amstzrdamse - 'onrlJ;aleleu ‘één dag plat, de werven
de fabrisken de ateliers, de kentoren en banken,gemeente-bedrijven
en wsrkverschafi‘ingen!!
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